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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

ANTHONY ACAMPORA : Civil Action No. 24-cv-1296
on behalf of himself and :
similarly situated employees, :
: INDIVIDUAL AND
Plaintiff, : COLLECTIVE/CLASS
: ACTION COMPLAINT
v. .

PNC BANK, : Jury Trial Demanded

Defendant. . Electronically Filed

INDIVIDUAL AND COLLECTIVE/CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Nature of the Action, Jurisdiction, and Venue

This is an individual and collective action under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938
(FLSA), 29 U.S.C. 88 207(a) & 216(b), and an individual and class action under the New
York Labor Law (NYLL), and FRCP 23 to recover damages for non-payment of

overtime wages.

Jurisdiction of this court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and, for the supplemental
state claims, 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).

The actions and policies alleged to be unlawful were committed in whole or in part in
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, where Defendant has its headquarters and in New York, New
York, where Plaintiff worked for Defendant. This action is within the jurisdiction of, and
venue is proper in, the United States District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania.
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Parties

Plaintiff Anthony Acampora resides at 155 Wirt Avenue, Staten Island, NY 103009.
Plaintiff worked for Defendant PNC Bank as a Mortgage Loan Officer (hereinafter
referred to as “MLO”) from his home from in or about November 2018 until on or about
September 23, 2022.

Defendant PNC Bank, a national banking and financial services company, maintains its
corporate headquarters at 300 Fifth Avenue, The Tower at PNC Plaza, Pittsburgh, PA
15222, and operates offices in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, the state of New
York and throughout the United States.

At all relevant times Defendant has been an enterprise engaged in interstate commerce
with annual revenues in excess of $500,000 and has employees engaged in interstate
commerce and the production of goods in interstate commerce and has been subject to the
provisions of Section 203(s)(1) of the FLSA.

Defendant employs in excess of 500 full time employees.

Defendant has annual revenues in excess of $150 billion.

Defendant has regularly employed individuals in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
the State of New York and more than two dozen other states in the performance of work
on behalf of Defendant and is, therefore, subject to the provisions of the FLSA,
Pennsylvania wage and hour laws, New York Labor Law and the wage and hour laws of

the other states where it operates.

The actions, policies, practices and customs alleged to be unlawful originated in and were
directed by headquarters in Pittsburgh, PA.
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Statement of Claims

Plaintiff was a MLO from in or about November 2018 until on or about September 23,
2022.

Plaintiff worked from his home on Staten Island, NY.

There have been over 500 MLOs employed by Defendant company-wide since July
2021.

There have been over 50 MLOs working in New York for Defendant since July 2018.
Plaintiff was a W-2 employee.

The other MLOs company-wide as well as in New York have been W-2 employees.
Plaintiff was an employee within the meaning of the FLSA and the NYLL.

The other MLOs have been employees within the meaning of the FLSA, the NYLL (New
York-employed MLOs) and the laws of the other states where PNC employs MLOs.

Plaintiff was paid a salary of $3,000 per month.
The other MLOs are and have been paid a salary at or near $3,000 per month.
Plaintiff was paid a commission based on sales of mortgage loan products.

The other MLOs are and have been paid a commission based on sales of mortgage loan

products.
Plaintiff was non-exempt within the meaning of the FLSA and the NYLL.

The other MLOs are and have been non-exempt within the meaning of the FLSA, the
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NYLL (New York-employed MLOSs) and the wage and hour laws of other states where
Defendant employs MLOs.

Defendant maintains a corporate-wide time-keeping system.
Plaintiff and the other MLOs were instructed to utilize this time-keeping system.

Plaintiff and the other MLOs, however, were discouraged from recording the actual time

worked.

As a matter of common policy, practice and custom Plaintiff and the other MLOs
normally recorded only 35-40 hours of time worked.

Plaintiff regularly worked more than 40 hours in workweeks.
Despite this, Plaintiff normally recorded only 35-40 hours worked in most workweeks.
The other MLOs regularly have worked more than 40 hours in workweeks.

Despite this, the other MLOs have normally recorded only 35-40 hours in most

workweeks.

Defendant knew that Plaintiff was working more hours than recorded in the company-

wide time-keeping system.

Defendant knew this based on the digital work applications Plaintiff was required to use

in performance of his duties.

Defendant also knew this from emails, phone records and other forms of electronic

communications.

Defendant has known that the other MLOs are and have been working more hours than

recorded in the company-wide time-keeping system.

Defendant has known this based on the digital work applications the other MLOs are and
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have been required to use in performance of their duties.

Defendant has also known this from emails, phone records and other forms of electronic

communications.

Plaintiff and the other MLOs have been required to use the same PNC work applications

and other forms of electronic communications.

As a result of common policies, practices and customs Plaintiff and the other MLOs have

worked off-the-clock for Defendant.

Plaintiff was entitled to payment of overtime at one-and-one-half times his regular rate of

pay for the hours worked in excess of forty hours in workweeks.

The other MLOs are and have been entitled to payment of overtime at one-and-one-half
times their regular rate of pay for the hours worked in excess of forty hours in

workweeks.

Plaintiff and the other MLOs are and have also been entitled to payment of overtime

wages on the commissions earned.

Defendant, a sophisticated employer with knowledge of its obligations under the FLSA,
the NYLL and other state wage and hour laws, has and continues to understand it is

required to maintain accurate records of time worked by Plaintiff and the other MLOs.

Defendant, as a sophisticated employer with knowledge of its obligations under the
FLSA, the NYLL and other state wage and hour laws, has understood it has been and
continues to be prohibited from requiring or suffering to permit Plaintiff and the other
MLOs from working “off-the-clock.”

Defendant has knowingly and intentionally violated the FLSA’s explicit requirement at
29 U.S.C. 8211(c) that it maintain accurate records of time worked, and at 29 U.S.C.
8207(a) that it pay for overtime worked.
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COUNT I: VIOLATION OF THE FLSA: FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME
Individual and Collective Action (Company-Wide)

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of this complaint.

Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs (company-wide) have been unlawfully

denied overtime wages at the proper overtime rate.

For at least the past three years, Defendant’s violations of the FLSA have been knowing,

willful, and in reckless disregard of the FLSA’s overtime requirements.

Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs are entitled to recover from Defendant the

overtime pay improperly withheld by Defendant, plus interest, attorneys’ fees, and costs.

Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs are also entitled to recover liquidated
damages under 29 U.S.C. 8§ 207(a) & 216(b).

COUNT II: VIOLATION OF THE NYLL: FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME

Individual and Class Action (New York)

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of this complaint.

Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs (New York-employed MLOSs) have been

unlawfully denied overtime wages at the proper overtime rate.

Since January 12, 2018, Defendant has violated the NYLL’s overtime requirements.

! This class period is due to Governor Cuomo’s Executive Order that tolled the applicable NYLL statute of
limitations during the COVID-19 pandemic for 228 days. See Brash v. Richards, 195 A.D. 3d 582, 2021 WL
2213786, 2021 N.Y. Slip Op. 03436 (App. Div. 2d Dep’t June 2, 2021) (holding executive order tolled rather than
suspended statutes of limitations under New York law).
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Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs (New York-employed MLOs) are entitled
to recover from Defendant the overtime pay improperly withheld by Defendant, plus

interest, attorneys’ fees, and costs.

Plaintiff and all other similarly situated MLOs (New York-employed MLQOs) are also
entitled to recover liquidated damages, interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs under the
NYLL.

COUNT H1: VIOLATION OF THE NYLL: FAILURE TO PROVIDE ACCURATE

WAGE STATEMENTS
Individual and Class Action (New York)

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of this complaint.

Since January 12, 2018, Defendant failed to supply Plaintiff and the similarly situated
MLOs (New York-employed MLOs)with an accurate statement of wages with every
payment of wages as required by NYLL, Article 6, § 195(3), listing: dates of work
covered by that payment of wages; name of employee; name of employer; address and
phone number of employer; rate or rates of pay and basis thereof, whether paid by the
hour, shift, day, week, salary, piece, commission, or other; gross wages; deductions;
allowances, if any, claimed as part of the minimum wage; hourly rate or rates of pay and
overtime rate or rates of pay if applicable; the number of hours worked, including

overtime hours worked if applicable; deductions; and net wages.

Due to Defendant’s violations of NYLL, Article 6, 8 195(3), Plaintiff and the similarly
situated MLOs (New York-employed MLOs) are entitled to statutory penalties of two
hundred fifty dollars for each workday that Defendant failed to provide them with
accurate wage statements, or a total of five thousand dollars each, as well as reasonable

attorneys’ fees and costs as provided for by NYLL, Article 6, § 198(1-d).
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COUNT IV: VIOLATION OF THE NYLL: FAILURE TO PROVIDE
PROPER WAGE NOTICES
Individual and Class Action (New York)

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of this complaint.

Since January 12, 2018, Defendant has failed to supply Plaintiff and the similarly situated
MLOs (New York-employed MLOs)with a proper time of hire annual wage notice, as
required by NYLL, Article 6, 8 195(1), in English or in the language identified as their
primary language, at the time of hiring, containing, among other items: the rate or rates of
pay and basis thereof, whether paid by the hour, shift, day, week, salary, piece,
commission, or other; allowances, if any, claimed as part of the minimum wage; the
regular pay day designated by the employer in accordance with section one hundred
ninety-one of this article; overtime rate; the name of the employer; any “doing business
as” names used by the employer; the physical address of the employer's main office or
principal place of business, and a mailing address if different; the telephone number of
the employer; plus such other information as the commissioner deems material and

necessary.

Due to Defendant’s violations of NYLL, Article 6, 8 195(1), Plaintiff and the similarly
situated MLOs (New York-employed MLOs) are entitled to statutory penalties of fifty
dollars for each workday that Defendant failed to provide them with wage notices, or a

total of five thousand dollars each, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as

provided for by NYLL, Article 6, 8 198(1-b).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and all others similarly situated MLOs respectfully request that
this Court:
A. Order Defendant to pay the unpaid overtime compensation owed to Plaintiff and

all other similarly situated MLOs;
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B. Order Defendant to pay liquidated damages to Plaintiff and all other similarly
situated MLOs;

C. Order Defendant to pay Plaintiff and the similarly situated MLOs (New York-
employed MLOs) penalties under the NYLL;

D. Statutory penalties of fifty dollars for each workday that Defendant failed to
provide Plaintiff and the similarly situated MLOs (New York-employed MLOs)
with proper annual wage notices, or a total of five thousand dollars each, as
provided for by NYLL, Article 6 § 198;

E. Statutory penalties of two hundred fifty dollars for each workday that Defendant
failed to provide Plaintiff and the similarly situated MLOs (New York-employed
MLOs) with accurate wage statements, or a total of five thousand dollars each, as
provided for by NYLL, Article 6 § 198;

F. Order Defendant to pay pre- and post-judgment interest as well as the litigation
costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by Plaintiff and all other similarly
situated MLOs; and

G. Grant such further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

/sl Joseph H. Chivers

THE EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS GROUP, LLC
Joseph H. Chivers, Esq.

PA ID No. 39184

First & Market Building

100 First Avenue, Suite 650

Pittsburgh, PA 15222
jchivers@employmentrightsgroup.com

Tel: (412) 227-0763/Fax: (412) 774-1994

FITAPELLI & SCHAFFER LLP
Brian S. Schaffer

NY ID No. 4184537

Dana M. Cimera

NY ID No. 5486220

28 Liberty Street, 30" Floor
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Dated: September 11, 2024

New York, New York 10005
bschaffer@fslawfirm.com

Tel: (212) 300-0375

Fax: (212) 481-1333

*Pro Hac Vice application forthcoming

Counsel for Plaintiff
and all others similarly situated
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JS 44A REVISED June, 2009
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
THIS CASE DESIGNATION SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED

PART A

This case belongs on the ( Erie Johnstown @ pittsburgh) calendar.

1. ERIE CALENDAR - If cause of action arose in the counties of Crawford, Elk, Erie,
Forest, McKean. Venang or Warren, OR any plaintiff or defendant resides in one of said
counties.

2., JOHNSTOWN CALENDAR - If cause of action arose in the counties of Bedford, Blair,
Cambria, Clearfield or Somerset OR any plaintiff or defendant resides in one of
said counties.

3. Complete if on ERIE CALENDAR: I certify that the cause of action arose in
County and that the resides in County.

4. Complete if on JOHNSTOWN CALENDAR: I certify that the cause of action arose in
County and that the resides in County.

PART B (You are to check ONE of the following)

1. This case is related to Number . Short Caption

2.(3 This case is not related to a pending or terminated case.

DEFINITIONS OF RELATED CASES:

CIVIL: Civil cases are deemed related when a case filed relates to property included in
another suit or involves the same issues of fact or it grows out of the same transactions
as another suit or involves the validity or infringement of a patent involved in another
suit EMINENT DOMAIN: Cases in contiguous closely located groups and in common ownership
groups which will lend themselves to consolidation for trial shall be deemed related.
HABEAS CORPUS & CIVIL RIGHTS: All habeas corpus petitions filed by the same individual
shall be deemed related. All pro se Civil Rights actions by the same individual shall be
deemed related.

PARTC
I. CIVIL CATEGORY (Select the applicable category).
1. Antitrust and Securities Act Cases
2. Labor-Management Relations
3. Habeas corpus
4. Civil Rights
5. Patent, Copyright, and Trademark
6. Eminent Domain
7. @ All other federal question cases
8. All personal and property damage tort cases, including maritime, FELA,
Jones Act, Motor vehicle, products liability, assault, defamation, malicious
prosecution, and false arrest
9. Insurance indemnity, contract and other diversity cases.
10. Government Collection Cases (shall include HEW Student Loans (Education),

vV A Overpayment, Overpayment of Social Security, Enlistment
Overpayment (Army, Navy, etc.), HUD Loans, GAO Loans (Misc. Types),
Mortgage Foreclosures, SBA Loans, Civil Penalties and Coal Mine
Penalty and Reclamation Fees.)

I certify that to the best of my knowledge the entries on this Case Designation
Sheet are true and correct

/s/Joseph H. Chivers
Date: September 11, 2024

ATTORNEY AT LAW

NOTE: ALL SECTIONS OF BOTH FORMS MUST BE COMPLETED BEFORE CASE CAN BE PROCESSED.



Case 2:24-cv-01296-RJC Document 1-2 Filed 09/11/24 Page 1 of 2

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Western District of Pennsylvania

Anthony Acampora,
on behalf of himself and
similarly situated employees,

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 24-cv-1296

PNC Bank

R R N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) PNC Bank
The Tower at PNC Plaza
300 Fifth Avenue
Pittsburgh, PA 15222

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Joseph H. Chivers, Esq.

jchivers@employmentrightsgroup.com
The Employment Rights Group, LLC
100 First Ave., Suite 650

Pittsburgh, PA 15222

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk



Case 2:24-cv-01296-RJC Document 1-2 Filed 09/11/24 Page 2 of 2

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 24-cv-1296

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 ()

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ,or

O I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ,or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:





